IN J	E SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
THE	FLORIDA BAR, Complainant,	CLERK, SUPREME COURT B Supreme Court Case
v. How <i>i</i>	ARD NEU,	No. 76,158
	Respondent.	

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR		
	PAUL A. GROSS #032115 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Suite M-100, Rivergate Plaza Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445	
	JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #033748 Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600	
	JOHN T. BERRY #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 3, 1990, Mr. Neu stipulated that the Bar had probable cause for disciplinary proceeding, waived a probable cause finding by a grievance committee. See Stipulation, paragraph 3. Appendix Exhibit A.

On June 15, 1990, the Complaint was filed in the Supreme Court of Florida. In view of the Stipulation (Appendix Exhibit A), an Answer and Response to Request for Admissions were not required. See letter to Judge Fogan, August 22, 1990, attached to Stipulation as Appendix Exhibit A.

The Final Hearing was held at the Broward County Courthouse on October 3, 1990 and Neu waived venue. (T. Vol.1, page 8) On October 25, 1990, the Referee announced his findings. (T. Vol. II) The Report of Referee was filed on December 10, 1990. (A copy is attached as Appendix Exhibit B)

The Referee made the following findings and recommendations:

As to Count I, the Referee recommended that Neu be found not guilty of the following:

DR 1-102(A)(4) - conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation;

DR 1-102(A)(6) - conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law;

DR 9-102(b)(3) - failure to maintain records.

The Referee recommended Neu be found guilty of the following rules:

DR 9-102(A) - commingling funds;

Florida Bar Integration Rule 11.02(4) - money entrusted for

a specific purpose must be applied only to that purpose;

Florida Bar Integration Rule 11.02(4)(d) - failing to remit interest from interest bearing trust account to The Florida Bar Foundation.

As to Count II, the Referee made a finding of not guilty to violating Rule 4-8.4(c), of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, (dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) However, the Referee found Neu guilty of violating Rule 5-1.1, which states that money held in trust, for a specific purpose is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose. (RR, page 6, Appendix Exhibit B)

The Referee recommended that Neu be disciplined in the following manner:

Suspension for 90 days; that Neu's return to the practice of law be conditioned on his prior payment of \$6,386.54 to The Florida Bar Foundation, without interest(RR, page 7); and that Neu pay \$3,559.95 for costs to The Florida Bar (RR, page 15, Appendix B)

On January 22, 1991, The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review, seeking a suspension for three years, with proof of rehabilitation being required. In addition, The Florida Bar requests that Neu be found guilty of violating the following rules:

Count I: DR 1-102(A)(4), DR 1-102(A)(6), Code of Professional Responsibility;

Count II: Rule 4-8.4(c), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

On or shortly after January 25, 1991, Neu filed a Cross Petition for Review seeking to have the 90 day suspension changed to a public reprimand. In addition, Neu seeks review of the costs and manner in which costs should be taxed. Also, Neu seeks review of the requirement that the costs of The Florida Bar be taxed to the Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about December 16, 1982, Selser Bernard Mckinney, age 2, was injured in a pedestrian-automobile accident in Dade County, Florida. As a result of this accident, McKinney was taken to the emergency room at Jackson Memorial Hospital in Miami where, in the course of treatment, McKinney suffered cardiac respiratory arrest resulting in brain damage. (Stipulation at paragraph 4(a), Appendix A.)

On or about September 2, 1983, Mr. Neu was appointed by the Dade County Circuit Court to act as guardian of McKinney's property. (Stipulation at paragraph 4(b), Appendix Exhibit A)

On January 7, 1987, while serving as guardian of McKinney's property, Mr. Neu wrote a check on the guardianship account for \$5,648.28, payable to the Internal Revenue Service. That check was written for Mr. Neu's own use, rather than for the benefit of his ward McKinney. On February 27, 1987, however, Mr. Neu repaid the guardianship account in full for the \$5,648.28, and three days later, on March 2 of that year, Mr. Neu deposited \$50.00 into the guardianship account as interest, thereby making the guardianship account whole. (Stipulation at paragraph 4(c), Appendix A.)

Between May 24, 1984 and October 9, 1985, Mr. Neu withdrew \$52,604.99 from his client's trust account, which sum includes \$40,000.00 deposited in the trust account from four \$10,000.00 checks taken from the McKinney guardianship account as follows: (RR, page 3)

February 21, 1985 April 12, 1985 May 28, 1985

August 13, 1985.

Mr. Neu used approximately \$31,000.00 of these funds to invest in a music venture. Mr. Neu asserts that this investment was made on behalf of his ward McKinney, but he had no court authority for the investment and he did not report the four \$10,000.00 withdrawals from the McKinney account on accountings filed in the quardianship proceeding. The venture failed, but by October 2, 1985, all \$40,000.00 had been replaced in the interest, thereby making guardianship account the with quardianship account whole. Mr. Neu repaid all other funds withdrawn from his trust account, and no client failed to receive trust account funds or have them applied on a timely basis. (Stipulation at paragraph 4(d), Appendix Exhibit A)

Between May 25, 1984 and July 7, 1986, Mr. Neu maintained an interest-bearing trust account for clients' funds which earned \$6,386.54. This account was not in compliance with Florida's voluntary Interest on Trust Accounts Program, as established by the Florida Supreme Court effective October 1, 1981. (Stipulation at paragraph 5, Appendix Exhibit A)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's findings that the Bar produced no evidence that Mr. Neu engaged in conduct which involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation because Mr. Neu had no intent to deprive his clients permanently of their funds is an error of law. Also, the Referee's findings that the Bar did not introduce evidence that Neu's conduct adversely reflected on his fitness to practice law is also an error.

The Florida Bar v. Donald K. McShirley, Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. 74,086, January 10, 1991, (16 FLW S83) clearly shows that the acts committed by Mr. Neu constitute dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation and conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

In addition, the Referee's recommendation, <u>inter alia</u>, for a 90 day suspension is not appropriate, considering the serious nature of the violations. Moreover, a suspension for three years, plus the other discipline recommended by the Referee is appropriate.

The facts in <u>The Florida Bar v. McShirley</u>, supra, are very similar to the case at hand, and in that case, this court recommended a three year suspension, in addition to other discipline.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE REFEREE ERRED WHEN HE FOUND NO EVIDENCE THAT NEU ENGAGED IN CONDUCT THAT INVOLVES DISHONESTY, FRAUD, DECEIT OR MISREPRESENTATION, BECAUSE HE HAD NO INTENT TO DEPRIVE HIS CLIENTS PERMANENTLY OF THEIR FUNDS AND NO EVIDENCE THAT NEU'S CONDUCT REFLECTS ADVERSELY ON HIS FITNESS TO PRACTICE LAW.

The Referee stated on page 4 of the Report of Referee, that Neu's conduct does not constitute a violation of DR 1-102(A)(4), dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, <u>because he had no</u> <u>intent to deprive his clients permanently of their funds.</u> (underscoring supplied for emphasis.)

In addition, the Referee stated there was no evidence that Neu's conduct adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

The Bar respectfully submits that the Referee made an error in law, when he made the above findings.

See <u>The Florida Bar v. Donald K. McShirley</u>, Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. 74,086, January 10, 1991, (16 FLW S83) (See Appendix Exhibit E) In that case, Mr. McShirley converted client funds to his personal use. However, like Neu, he replaced the funds before the losses were discovered. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court sustained the Referee's findings, <u>inter alia</u>, that McShirley violated DR 1-102 (A)(4), (engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, and DR 1-102(A)(6), (engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on an attorney's fitness to practice law.)

Although McShirley did not intend to deprive his clients permanently of their funds, as he returned the funds before the losses were discovered, this Court nevertheless approved the Referee's findings that McShirley engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation and conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

On page 8 of the Stipulation (Appendix Exhibit A), it states the following:

ISSUE TO BE TRIED

There are no material facts in dispute. The only issue to be tried by the referee pursuant to Rule 3-7.5 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar is the discipline to be imposed on Mr. Neu for the above.

Please read Transcript, Vol. I, pages 36-39. On page 39 of the transcript, the Referee found the Respondent guilty. Since the referee considered the Stipulation a guilty plea, the allegations in the complaint concerning dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation and conduct that adversely reflects on the fitness to practice law, should have been part of the Referee's findings in the Report of Referee.

The Referee stated on page 4 of the Report of Referee, that there is no evidence that Neu's conduct constitutes a violation of dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, and he cites for authority, <u>The Florida Bar v. Dougherty</u>, 541 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1989), Appendix Exhibit C, and <u>The Florida Bar v. Lumley</u>, 517 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1987), Appendix D. It is the Bar's view that these cases are not related to the <u>Neu</u> case. In the <u>Dougherty</u> case, on page 611, it says, "There is no evidence that Respondent had an intention of misappropriating any of the money belonging

to the Harris Trust."

In the <u>Neu</u> case, the evidence is clear and convincing that Mr. Neu had the intention of misappropriating \$5,648.28 from the guardianship account when he wrote a check to the Internal Revenue Service and said check was written for Mr. Neu's own use, rather than for the benefit of his ward, McKinney. (See RR, page 3, paragraph 4, Appendix Exhibit B and Stipulation, paragraph 4(c), Appendix Exhibit A)

In the <u>Lumley</u> case, supra, the referee found comingling of funds. On page 14 of that decision, it states:

The referee found there was no intent on the part of respondent to defraud or deprive clients of their property.

In addition, in the Lumley case, on page 14, it further states:

There is nothing in the evidence or in the referee's report to refute inference that such improper personal use of trust funds was committed knowingly.

In the <u>Neu</u> case, the check for \$5,648.28 written by Neu for the Internal Revenue Service was done knowingly. See paragraph 4 of "RR", Appendix Exhibit B and Stipulation, paragraph 4(c), Appendix Exhibit A.

Also, by sending the IRS monies from a guardianship account to pay for his own taxes was obviously with the intent to defraud. (See paragraph 4(c) of Stipulation, Appendix Exhibit A) Likewise, using guardianship funds for a music venture and other purposes, was also for the purpose of defrauding and depriving the ward of his funds, especially when it was done without approval of the court. See Stipulation, paragraph 4(d), Appendix Exhibit A.

The evidence in this case is clear and convincing that Mr. Neu knowingly misappropriated large sums of money from his ward and other clients, and he did it knowingly for his own selfish purposes. While refunding the money is a mitigating factor, it is not a defense to the charge of violating Rule 4-8.4(c) and Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4), conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. Also it is not a defense to violating DR 1-102(A)(6), conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.

Using a ward's money, without proper authority, to pay the lawyer's own taxes or to spend for other unauthorized purposes, does adversely reflect on that lawyer's fitness to practice law.

 \mathbf{II}

A THREE YEAR SUSPENSION IS MORE APPROPRIATE THAN THE 90 DAY SUSPENSION RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

Although there were mitigating matters in this case, (Neu returned the funds with interest prior to shortages being discovered) there were also aggravating circumstances which should be considered.

The Bar submitted in evidence Complainant's Exhibits 2, 3, and 4, which are accountings. The Respondent did not show on any of these accountings the withdrawals of \$10,000.00 each from the guardianship account of his ward on the following dates: February 21, 1985; April 12, 1985; May 20, 1985; and August 13, 1985. Specifically, these entries should have been on the accounting for October 18, 1984 through September 30, 1985. (Complainant's Exhibit 3)

It is the Bar's position that the failure to show the \$40,000.00 in withdrawals was for the purpose of misleading the Court. The Respondent knew or should have known these withdrawals were improper and he did not want the judge to know about them.

Respondent stated at the hearing that the matters concerning the accountings were not admissible, as uncharged misconduct was The Bar contends the accountings are part of these involved. proceedings, as it is related to respondent's improper intentions concerning the withdrawal of \$40,000.00 from the guardianship Nevertheless, even if this matter should concern account. uncharged misconduct, this is proper in grievance proceedings. The Florida Bar v. Stillman, 401 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981) and The <u>Florida Bar v. Setien</u>, 530 So.2d 298, 300 (Fla. 1988). With reference to Neu's intentions, it is noted that he testified that the investment in the music venture was not purchased in the name of the guardianship. (T. Vol. I, pages 70-71) This indicates the music venture was for his own benefit and not for the benefit of the ward.

In this case, there are at least seven separate actions by Mr. Neu, which involve or relate to the defalcation of funds, i.e., withdrawing \$10,000.00 on each of the following dates: February 21, 1985; April 12, 1985; May 20, 1985; and August 13, 1985. (RR. page 37, paragraph 5) In addition, on January 7, 1987, Mr. Neu wrote a check for \$5,648.28 to the IRS on the guardianship account and this was for personal use. (RR, paragraph 4, page 3) Also, the respondent kept for himself the

\$6,386.54 in interest earned on his client's trust account. (RR, paragraph 6, page 3) Furthermore, in an effort to cover up the defalcations, Mr. Neu submitted a false accounting to the Court. (RR, page 15, paragraph 11) Exhibit 2, 3, & 4. <u>In The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Vernell</u>, 374 So.2d 473, 476, (Fla. 1979), the Supreme Court stated:

This Court deals more severely with cumulative misconduct than with isolated misconduct.

While The Florida Bar realizes there are cases where lawyers have misappropriated funds from trust accounts and they were not disbarred; it nevertheless wants to send a message, loud and clear, to all Florida lawyers that defalcation of funds will be dealt with severely. There must be a severe deterrent, in order to protect those who cannot protect themselves.

This case has numerous aggravating circumstances, as stated above. Moreover, in this case Mr. Neu was entrusted with the funds of a brain damaged child. We believe that the public demands that a guardian of property must protect that property not steal it. If a guardian is also an officer of the court, his integrity and honesty must be beyond reproach. If the lawyer cannot be trusted to protect the property of his ward, who can we look to for protection for those who are not capable of protecting their own property.

The referee's recommendation of suspension for 90 days is, in our opinion, entirely too lenient and would be considered by the public and the members of The Florida Bar as a "slap on the wrist" for extremely serious offenses.

This is not a case where the respondent's judgment was impaired by alcohol, drugs, or mental illness. In this case, the respondent needed money and he "borrowed" it from his ward and clients without permission.

Rules 4.1 and 4.11 of Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions state as follows:

Rule 4.1, Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving the failure to preserve client property:

4.11, Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.

When Mr. Neu submitted the false accounting to the Court (Complainant Ex. 3), he committed a disbarment offense. See Florida Standards for Imposing Discipline, Rules 6.1 and 6.11 below:

6.1, False statements, fraud, and misrepresentation

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and upon application of the factors set out in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving conduct that this prejudicial to the administration of justice or that involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation to a court:

6.11, Disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer: (a) with the intent to deceive the court, knowingly makes a false statement, or submits a false document; or (b) improperly withholds material

information, and causes serious or potentially serious injury to a party, or causes a significant adverse effect on the legal proceeding.

Florida Standards for Imposing Discipline discusses factors which may be considered in aggravation.

Rule 9.1 of Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions states, "After misconduct has been established, aggravation and mitigating circumstances may be considered in deciding what sanction to impose." Rule 9.22 shows the factors which may be considered in aggravation. The following factors are applicable to this case:

(b) dishonest or selfish motive: (The Bar contends the monies taken from the guardianship were for dishonest or selfish motives.)

(d) multiple offenses. (As stated above, there were multiple offenses involved. See Complaint and Stipulation.)

(h) vulnerability of victim. (The victim was a brain damaged child.)

(i) substantial experience in the practice of law. (Mr. Neu has been a lawyer since 1968 and he is also a Certified Public Accountant.)

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), the Supreme Court of Florida stated that "misuse of client's funds is one of the most serious offenses." In addition, the Court stated:

> We give notice to the legal profession of this state that henceforth we will not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense even though no client is injured.

In The Florida Bar v. Pincket, 398 So.2d 802, 803 (Fla.

1981), The Supreme Court said:

We again reiterate that misuse of client's funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit, and we will not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense <u>even where there</u> <u>is restitution</u>. (underscoring supplied for emphasis)

The Court further stated:

We emphasize that we are not in any way retracting from our statement in <u>Breed</u>, but we believe that it is appropriate in determining the discipline to be imposed to take into consideration circumstances surrounding the incident, including cooperation and restitution.

brief, it apparent that the Court will In is not automatically disbar every lawyer who is quilty of misappropriation of funds, as it will consider the circumstances surrounding the incident. In the case at Bar, there are mitigating circumstances as well as aggravating circumstances.

It is the view of The Florida Bar that the case law clearly establishes that at least a three year suspension is warranted in misappropriation cases even when there are mitigating circumstances. In this case, the aggravating circumstances call for disbarment. However, since the misappropriated funds were refunded prior to the loss being discovered, and considering respondent's record of public service, a three year suspension is recommended rather than a disbarment.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Schiller</u>, 537 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1989), respondent replaced the funds, there was no direct damage to any clients and there was a genuine remorsefulness. Nevertheless, the respondent was suspended for three years. In the <u>Schiller</u>

case, the Supreme Court stated, "The misuse of client funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit ... upon a finding of misuse or misappropriation, there is a presumption that disbarment is the appropriate punishment." Although the presumption can be rebutted, in the <u>Schiller</u> case, even with rebuttal evidence, Mr. Schiller was suspended for three years.

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