Filed 4-1-91

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v .

Supreme Court Case No. 76,158

HOWARD NEU,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS/COMPLAINANT

Howard M. Neu, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 108689 12955 Biscayne Boulevard Suite 400 North Miami, Florida 33818 (305) 895-3880

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

ARGUMENT ON REVIEW

Ι

THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN HIS FINDINGS OF FACT THAT HAD BEEN PREVIOUSLY STIPULATED BY THE PARTIES AND APPLYING THE LAW THERETO

The underlying facts concerning actions taken by Mr. Neu which formulate the basis for the Bar's Complaint were stipulated and uncontroverted. The referee correctly studied and reviewed those facts and made the following determinations:

That Mr. Neu was not guilty of violating:

As to Count I:

DR1-102(a)(4): conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation;

DR1-102(a)(6): conduct that adversely reflect on his fitness to practice law; and

 $DR \mathcal{L}_{102(b)(3)}$: a lawyer shall maintain complete records of all funds, securities and other properties of a client coming into possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accounts to his client regarding them. (RR 6)

As to Count II:

Rule 4-8.4(c) relating to conduct involving dishonesty, fraud deceit or misrepresentation (RR 6)

That Mr. New was guilty of violating:

As to Count I:

DR 9-102(A) commingling funds; Integration Rule 11.02(4); money entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, including advances for costs and expenses as held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose;

Integration Rule 11.02(4)(d): failing to remit interest from interest bearing trust accounts to the Florida Bar Foundation. (RR 6).

As to Count II:

Rule 5-1.1: money in trust with the attorney for a specific purpose is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose (RR 6).

The referee then applied the factors in mitigation supplied by Mr. Neu and the factors in aggravation supplied by the Bar and made his recommendations as to disciplinary measures to be applied as to those violations that he had found based on the stipulated facts, recommending 90 day suspension with no probation, but return to practice conditioned upon payment of \$6,386.—54 to the Florida Bar Foundation without interest (RR 7).

The Bar seeks to reinterpret the facts to find that Mr. Neu had intent to deprive his clients <u>permanently</u> of their funds. The referee found that such a contention was not supported by the stipulated facts.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. McClure</u>, Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. 64,093, January 17, 1991, (16 FLW S128, 129) (A-35) the court held that:

"The party seeking review has the burden of showing that the referee's findings are "clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support". The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So 2d 770,772 (Fla. 1968). Unless the burden is met, a referee's findings will be upheld on review. The Florida Bar v. Hirsch, 359 So 2d 856 (Fla. 1978).

The Court also cited <u>The Florida Bar v. Quick</u>, 279 So 2d 4 (Fla 1973) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Rayman</u>, 238 So 2d 594 (Fla 1970) to support its finding that "in Bar discipline proceeding, the evidence of misconduct must be clear and convincing in order for a referee to find the accused lawyer guilty" (ibid p. 5129). See also <u>The Florida Bar v. Setien</u>, 530 So 2d 298, 299 (Fla. 1988) wherein the Court stated:

"In this case our task is easier in that the referee was dealing with stipulated facts. The only question is whether these fact support the finding of guilt."

In the case at hand, the Bar is seek a review by this Court as to whether the stipulated facts herein support findings of non-guilt where the evidence did not clearly convince the referee of the guilt of the Respondent. The referee specifically states on page 4 of his report:

"The Bar has produced no evidence that Mr. New engaged in conduct which involves dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation in violation of DR 1-102(a)(4), and I find from the evidence that Mr. Neu's conduct does constitute a violation of that disciplinary rule because he had no intent to deprive his clients permanently of their funds. Transcript of Hearing at 80, 81; The Florida Bar v. Dougherty, 541 So.2d 610 (Fla. See also. The Florida Bar v. Lumley, 517 So.2d Nor has the Bar introduced any evi-13 (Fla. 1987). dence to support its allegation that Neu's conduct adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law in violation of DR 1-102(a)(6), and I find as a fact that the Bar has failed to prove its allegations in that regard.

I further find that the Bar has introduced insufficient evidence to support its allegation that Mr. Neu failed to maintain complete records of all client funds and to render appropriate account to his client regarding them in violation of DR 9-102(b)(3), and I find as a fact

that allegation was not proved.

...The Bar has failed to introduce any evidence, however, to support its allegation that Mr. Neu's use of
guardianship property for a payment on his personal taxes
constituted dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, and I find as a fact that the Bar has failed to
prove its allegation that Mr. Neu violated Rule 5-1.1.
The Florida Bar v. Dougherty, supra; The Florida Bar v.
Lumley, supra. (RR 5)

See also, <u>The Florida Bar v. Aaron</u>, 490 So.2d 941 (Fla. 1986 wherein this Court stated:

"In addition, the referee specifically found a lack of competent evidence indicating dishonesty and noted that respondent was "extremely cooperative" and "totally candid in his testimony."

This Court also stated in <u>The Florida Bar v. Colclough</u>, Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. 73,404, June 7, 1990 (15 FLW S338 at 339) (A-37):

"A referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct."

Thus, the Bar has not met its burden of proof to overcome this judicial presumption and the referee's finding of guilt and non-guilty must stand.

The Bar cites the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Donald K.</u>

<u>McShirley</u>, Supreme Court of Florida, Case No. 74,086, January 10, 1991, (16 FLW S83) for finding that though McShirley returned funds before losses were discovered, the <u>referee</u> (emphasis added) found that he engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation and the Supreme Court of Florida affirmed the Referee's findings. We agree with this procedure and cite this case to support our position that the referee's

findings are presumed to be correct.

The Bar would equate the stipulation of facts entered into by the parties with a guilty plea and consent judgment. However, such a consent judgment was executed by the Respondent 6 months before this Complaint was filed by the Bar; that the Bar's Board of Governor's wanted nothing less than disbarment and rejected that stipulation. The stipulation herein was not an admission of guilt of violation of various rules or regulations of ethical conduct. It was simply an admission that the acts complained of had in fact occurred and that it was up to the Referee to decide whether or not they constituted violations of Florida Bar Disciplinary Rules and determine what discipline, if any, should be applied as to those rules which the Referee determine had been violated. These determinations were finally made in the Referee's Report.

The Referee's citation of <u>The Florida Bar v. Dougherty</u>, 541 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1989) and <u>The Florida Bar v. Lumley</u>, 517 So.2d 13, (Fla. 1987) was appropriate and applicable to this case. In <u>Dougherty</u>, the Court stated at page 612:

"Dougherty's actions cannot be considered minor misconduct where he invested substantial trust account funds without disclosure in ventures in which he had potentially conflicting interests. The potential for self-dealing is great. Such actions constitute serious misconduct warranting substantial discipline."

Due to Dougherty's extensive personal and legal contributions to the community he was publicly reprimanded and placed on probation for two years.

The <u>Lumley</u> case is also directly related to the case at bar.

The Court at page 14 stated:

"The referee found that there was no intent on the part of respondent to defraud or deprive his clients of their property. The evidence showed that, although at times there were deficits in account of money held in trust, respondent in every case restored the balance on the account in time to meet his obligations to his clients. No client suffered any loss or delay in the disbursement of funds.

Although the referee found no intent to deprive the clients of their money, the existence of the account "deficits" shown by the evidence established that respondent did use, albeit temporarily, trust funds for personal purposes. There is nothing in the evidence or in the referee's report to refute the inference that such improper use of trust funds was committed knowingly. We therefore find that the evidence and the referee's findings implicitly show that respondent knowingly used entrusted funds for his own purposes." (emphasis added).

The respondent was given a public reprimand by the Court.

The referee properly found the Respondent's actions did not involve dishonesty, deceit, fraud or misrepresentation based on the above cases. He found that Mr. Neu's stipulated actions in no way reflect adversely on his fitness to practice law, and all testimony of record is to the contrary. The Bar has offered no evidence to support its allegation that he maintained incomplete trust accounting records, or that he failed to render appropriate accounts to his clients. In short, the Bar has failed to prove that the Respondent violated DR 1-102(a)(4), 1-102(a)(6), 9-102(b)(3) or Rule 4-8.4(c).

A THREE YEAR SUSPENSION IS NOT MORE APPROPRIATE DIS-CIPLINE THAN THAT RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE

The Bar suggests that if the Referee's findings of non-guilt are erroneous, then the discipline meted out should be greater than a 90 day suspension. The leading case on the proper measure of discipline is <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970). Therein, the Court cited three bases for determining the nature of discipline:

"First,, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations."

The referee allowed both sides to provide testimony and evidence as to aggravating and mitigating factors. Even the Bar admitted that all trust funds utilized by Respondent were paid back, with interest before the Bar even knew that there was a shortage (T.Vol I, page 38) and that the Respondent was always nice and courteous, (T. Vol I, page 58). Mr. Neu testified that he was remorseful, (T. Vol I, page 98), that he had no personal gain from the transactions (T. Vol I, page 79), that he had no intent to deprive the client of any money (T. Vol I, page 80) (which statement was unrebutted); that the monies utilized were intended as either an investment or a loan to be immediately paid

back. (T. Vol I, page 80); that no clients ever complained of any shortages and that monies were always available when needed (T. Vol I, page 81); that he attempted to obtain bank records, the bank had been seized by the Federal Government and the cords were not available (T. Vol I, page 83); that he had difficulty in locating the records requested due to the untidy storage space maintained by his associate at the time (T. Vol I, page 84); that he cooperated fully in the Bar's investigation of his trust account (T. Vol I, page 87); that at the time that his trust account was in an interest-bearing account that he believed that payment of interest earned to the Florida Bar's 10TA program was voluntary and not mandatory (T. Vol I, page 88); that upon learning of the mandatory requirement in 1986, he transferred his trust funds to a non-interest bearing account at a different bank and has been in compliance with trust accounting requirements since that time (T. Vol I, page 89); that due to having held public office, the publicity generated by the Bar investigations herein has damaged him considerably financially, caused him lose clients and to lose his position as Mayor of the City of North Miami (T. Vol I, pages 93 - 95) (A-40); that he is a sole practitioner (T. Vol I, page 95); that he has been a municipal judge and appointed by the Courts as guardian ad litem and attorney ad litem (T. Vol I, page 96); that he participated extensively in community service for which he received substantial recognition and awards. (T. Vol I, pages 97-100).

Many noted members of the community, public officials, friends and clients testified on the Respondent's behalf. They told of his integrity and honesty (T. Vol II, pages 113, 115, 122, 129, 136, 143, 149, 172, 174 and 191); of his dedication to the public (T. Vol II, pages 118, 125, 129, 149); and reputation in the community (T. Vol II, pages 118, 129, 140 and 172); of the punishment he has received by adverse publicity (T. Vol II, pages 121-125, 128, 132, 139, 143, 148, 150, 153, 154, 173 and 174); of his public service through the media (T. Vol II, pages 137 and 138); of the need for him to be able to continue practicing law (T. Vol II, pages 147, 149, 154, 170, 173, 174 and 178); of his remorse (T. Vol II, pages 150, 154, 185); of his competence as an attorney (T. Vol II, pages 164, 165, 168, 173 and 175).

The referee felt that Mr. Neu was very cooperative (T. Vol II, page 199) and that he is rehabilitated (T. Vol II, page 226). Thus, the record is replete with mitigating circumstances. They include the following:

with he Bar since the institution of these proceedings. AT the outset he appeared when requested and brought all records he had available. He admitted the underlying facts which led to the Bar's Complaint, and he eliminated, by waiver, the need for a grievance committee process. He then attempted to resolve the Bar's concerns by offering a consent agreement which would have obviated any referee appointment or proceeding. Only the Bar's

rejection of the proposed consent judgment forced the assignment of a referee and the hearing. Even then, Mr. Neu initiated the stipulation which simplified and expedited the referee's proceeding.

The Florida Supreme Court has recognized as a mitigating factor "the appropriateness of considering the circumstances surrounding the incident, including cooperation...", The Florida Bar v. Hero, 513 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Pincket, 389 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981); The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1980).

- (2) Acknowledgment of responsibility: Mr. Neu has at all times acknowledged responsibility for his conduct, without any attempt to put the Bar to its proof either in a grievance committee process or by challenge to the fundamental facts in the complaint. The Supreme Court has noted that acknowledgment of responsibility is a mitigating factor to be considered when sanctioning an attorney for misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 So.2d 1220 (Fla. 1980) (respondent's admission of allegations is a factor to be considered prior to sanctioning).
- (3) No prior violations: In more than 22 years of the practice of law, Mr. Neu has not been subject to any prior disciplinary action. The Supreme Court has often stated that a respondent's lack of a prior disciplinary record is a mitigating factor to be considered in disciplining an attorney for misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Colclough, 15 F.L.W. S338, 339 (Fla.

- June 7, 1990); The Florida Bar v. Hero, 513 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Padrino, 500 So.2d 525 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Hornbuckle, 347 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1977) (an attorney's practice for almost 25 years with no prior complaints is a mitigating factor).
- turned all trust monies with interest in short order, prior to any inquiry by either a client or the Bar. The Florida Supreme Court has recognized that a voluntary return of monies taken, particularly when the return occurs prior to any inquiry by the Bar, is an important mitigating factor. The Florida Bar v. Welty, 382 Sp.2d 1220 (Fla. 1980); The Florida Bar v. Pincket, 398 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981); The Florida Bar v. Lumley, 517 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Reese, 247 So.2d 718 (Fla. 1971).
- (5) No financial loss to clients: None of Mr. Neu's clients at any time lost money, or any interest on money as a result of the trust account violations. The Court has appropriately reasoned that if clients did not lose money following an attorney's mishandling of trust funds, the Court will mitigate the sanction to be imposed. The Florida Bar v. Lumley, 517 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1987); The Florida Bar v. Suprina, 468 So.2d 988 (Fla. 1985).
- (6) <u>Contributions to the community</u>: During 22 years of Mr. Neu's practice, the public and legal community have sig

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